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Cover by Tony Clark

UNDERWORLD SERIAL 4Y, SEASON 15, STORY 96

Context

UNDERWORLD was the first Doctor Who since 1974 not to be
script edited by Robert Holmes. And Andrew Martin thinks it
shows (see his review on page 8).

But the story is better known for its extensive use of Chro-
maKey to provide the cave settings of the underworld. Opin-
ions as to the success of the venture vary, but certainly it was
a brave move, forced on the production tcam at the last moment
(see Production, page 10).

What is not so well known is just how primitive the equipment
for post-production video effects was at the BBC in 1977. A.
J. ("Mitch") Mitchell explains the difficulties of electronic
effects, and in particular the challenges posed by UNDERWORLD
in his article Moving Pictures (page 4).

In summary, UNDERWORLD is a rather lightweight story with
little outstanding to remember apart from its effects work. The
late Graham Williams (pages 3 & 13) toid IN-VISION his feel-
ings about the finished result, and the other problems he was
facing - with the next story, and with his leading actor.
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Graham Williams

I HAD made the mistake of
going away on holiday, my first
and only holiday in two years.

But | came back to find that the
designer, an awfully clever chap
named Dick Coles, had blown the
entire budget on the spaceship.

We were now hours away from
the construction deadline, and so
it was pretty much unstoppable.

| had had conversations with
him before about one of his long-
standing ambitions, which was to
do Mervyn Peake's Titus trilogy,
using just ChromaKey for the sets.

At the time | had thought: "Gosh,
that's a pretty brave idea. I'm glad
| won't be doing it.".

However, when this business
blew up, we started talking and
loking at the scripts in the caves
with a view to saying: "It's either
going to be done it that way, or all
against black backdrops”.

Again, it has to be borne in mind
that, during those three years, infla-
tion was running at breakneck
speed. We were almost hourly
being told the costs had just gone
up by another ten per cent. The
knock-on effects was like compound
interest, with everything spiraling up
into quite lunatic sums.

| had already had several long
and very severe conversations with
the bosses upstairs, to the effect
that they didn't care how | spent my
money, as long as it was money
from that year. Once that was gone,
there was no question of over-fund-
ing. | would just lose episodes, end
of argument. Philip Hinchcliffe had
not left me with too much of a repu-
tation, because so many of his
Doctor Whos had gone massively
over-budget on scenery.

After so much consistent over-
spending that previous year, | was

told (a) | could not overspend
by a penny, and (b) | could not
overrun by a minute.

Given the situation was that
stark, it was not a difficult deci-
sion at all that we would have
to resort to doing our caves on
ChromakKey, especially as | did
not relish doing it all against
black backgrounds.

Norman Stewart reckoned he
could do it okay, although as it
turned out | think he was a little
over-confident.

We did need about four times
as much studio time, as we had
to plan and line up every shot
the way we wanted it.

So the compromise was that
we were recording ChromaKey
at a rate that was unheard of -
cutting eight or nine minutes in
an hour, when the normal rate
would be about one minute of

: rbbares to sacrifice Idmon to the Oracle

ChromaKey per hour.

In effect, we were trying things
never done before - asking untu-
tored crowd-scene actors to run
into a blue studio and to stop on
their blue marks on a blue cloth.
An inch or two out of line and
you'd get legs disappearing, and
the shot wouldn't work.

We'd retry as often as we could,
but there would have to be a cut-
off point where you go into the
next shot and take the best of what
you have.

We got it all done and on time.
But of course, you have to face
the eternal project management
triangle of Cost against Quality
against Time. You can get two of
those elements always, but only if
you sacrifice the third.

So UNDERWORLD came in on time
and within its budget, but I'm not
that proud of its quality. ]
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Electronic video effects is the fast-
est-expanding field in film and televi-
sion. The facilities and imagery it af-
fords to the finished picture is sought
after by everyone from sports editors
to “blockbuster” movie makers. In
Britain, this expansion started in the
mid-seventies, when a combination
of new equipment and artistic inven-
tion combined to create startling new
effects for the small screen. As ever,
Doctor Who was a principal user of
these new developments, and rarely
more so than in UNDERWORLD, made
in 1977.

A.J. “Mitch” Mitchell was the elec-
tronic effects designer on that show.
For IN-VISION, he reviews the world
of video effects, and traces the role
Doctor Who played in those forma-
tive years.

I HE BBC had recognised the situ-

tion with regard to models and so-called
mechanical effects from very early on.
They had Jack Kine and Bernard Wilkie,
who had built up the Visual Effects
Department since the fifties.

On the technical side there was a special
effects job too in those early days. This
was primarily brought onto productions
like The Black and White Minstrel
Show, which had some incredible efects
and routines done using inlays and over-
lays.

Unfortunately, there then developed a
power struggle as this field got biger.
What they wanted to work out was a
power base for operating the studio - or
rather, who would become the equiva-
lent of a film studio’s director of pho-
tography (that is, the technical boss).
In the days of live TV, it was essential
that one person had control, and that was
the Technical Operations Manager (or
TOM). And it was felt that these “special
effects guys” were undermining that
authority. So the job was done away
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with entircl&, and replaced by an opera-
tional post with no planning responsibil-
ity at all. This new job became known as
Inlay Operator.

Eventually, it settled down into a for-
mula, whereby a camera assistant from
the Camera Department would do a three-
month attachment in the Vision Depart-
ment to learn about inlay and overlay.
(The Vision Department was the area
which covered lighting as well as vi-
sion.) To go onto that scheme, you had
to be someone who knew something
about photography, because you were
required to work with masks and cut-
outs, and to prepare 35mm slides.

The clever bit, which kept the inlay
people in such a lowly position for so
long, was that they could only come from
the Camera Department. And you could
only do that job for three months before
going back to normal camera duties
again. This meant that no-one ever did
the job logn enough to form expert
knowledge, special relationships with
programmes, or even to become more
than just competent.

That is how I began my history in efects,
moving over for three months from being
a camera assistant, to learn inlay and
overlay. It was something I quickly
developed a keen interest in, particularly
doing ‘trick’ shots, anything that was out
of the ordinary and looked ‘clever’.

I did a lot of Top of the Pops. That was
always recorded in Studio G at Lime
Grove, which was the only studio to have
a special Bosch wipe and inlay machine
for doing realy kinky transitions. I got
quite involved in producing cels, cut-
outs and masks that produced quite
amazing effects on screen. Because, as
well as black and white, you could work
with diferent shades of grey to blend and
mix pictures.

But I got fed up when I realised I was
doing all this and not getting paid for it.
Then, after my three months, I was sent
back to the Camera Department and told
“That was it”. So I took all these slides
and things I had made, and wouldn’t let
the Vision Department use them.
Nothing much changed until the early
seventies when, again on attachment, I
started working on Doctor Who. This

Moving Pictures

was at the time that Barry Lets was
producing it. Bary was very heavily into
all things technical, and he loved doing
effects. Very often he would suggest ideas
of his own to see if they could be done.
I worked with him on THE AMBASSA-
DORS OF DEATH, basically doing experi-
ments with ChromaKey which was quite
a new thing for the BBC in 1970. My
main memory of that show was our short-
lived romance with yellow ChromaKey.
It worked best for about six months, until
the technology changed again and blue
suddenly resumed its position as most
suitable colour. At one point, we had to
drape a whole fork lift truck in yclow
cloth to do a scene of the Doctor walk-
ing, almost weightless, through an alien
spacecraft as the arm lifted him up and
down.

I then did something which was very
much not the done thing. I started talk-
ing to Bary in the bar about ideas for
effects, and started building little things
for him to use to achieve those effects.
So when it was time for him to complete
my attachment, Barry and I had to play a
game of politics with the management to
get them to keep me on the show.

I forget the exact details of how we did
it, but essentially, it could not be admit-
ted that I had built these things for Barry.
Because that would make me a supervi-
sor or designer or something, and would
mess up their nice simple system. Nev-
ertheless, I had designed them and Barry
needed them for his show: although they
theoretically didn’t exist, there had to be
someone on Doctor Who that knew how
they worked! So I was quietly left on the
programme for five and a half months to
get on with it.

During that time, I like to think we started
to develop some quite amazing and
complicated effects for Doctor Who,
certainly to a point where you did not
want to entrust all this kit to a young guy
who has never used it before. To me it
seemed crazy that you took on someone
new for three month’s training, but only
at the end of those three months would
he be really useful to a production. And
it was just at that point - when he’d start
to be useful - that he’d be sent back to
cameras.



So I wrote a training manual for inlay,
totally ignorant at the time that there had
been all this political in-fighting years
ago about the role of the effects special-
ist. After my five and a half month stint
with Barry I back that up with the sug-
gestion that there should be a permanent,
full-time pool of cameramen who were
trained inlay operators who could, when
required, be pulled off to handle shows
with a high requirement for inlay efects.
To my delight, and my amazement,
within a few months of my having been
promoted to the position of cameraman
(and four years after submitting my re-
port), I was called into my manager’s
office and told that the BBC were adver-
tising internally for people to become
electronic effects operators.

Three of us got the job: Dave Chapman,
Dave Jervis, and me. Right from the
start it was a very good partnership. I
was very into the photographic side of
the job, having a strong background in
camerawork. Dave Jervis was far more
involved in the electronics and technical
side.

All the Doctor Whos I worked on up
until UNDERWORLD had their effects put
on ‘live’ during studio recording days.
The big change that happened on that
story, that had to happen just to complete
everything on time, was post-production.
It just was not possible during live re-
cording to do all the moving beam shots
and such, without upsetting everyone else
in the studio.

At the time, Star Wars had just come
out. Graham Williams, the producer,
had seen the film, and wanted UNDER-
WORLD to look technically more sophis-
ticated. So he fought for (and got) a
gallery-only day, when just the techni-
cians and the director could come in and
do post-production work - adding beams
and ray gun shots to tape and film that
had already been recorded.

The problem with doing sequences like
people running in and firing lasers is that
actors find it terribly difficult to suddnly
stop and stand absolutely rigid with a
gun pointing, while the guy up in the
gallery lines up his masks or wipes or
whatever. Similarly, unless the camera
is locked off for the entire scene, there is

always some camera movement that will
make it almost impossible to get a per-
fectly-aligned laser beam.

In Star Wars, there are people running
everywhere as they fire off laser guns.
Once that has happened, and the audi-
ence starts to accept Star Wars as the
standard, then the rest of the industry
must atempt to do the same, or get left
behind.

We were able to get our gallery-only
sessions on days when a studio was being
de-rigged of one lot of sets, having its
floors washed, and another show’s sets
put up. You would be able to come into
the control room, link up a few two-inch
video machines to the effects kits and do
post-production work.

In that way, it’s no problem to add ef-
fects to a scene with actors running on,
firing lasers, and running off again. You
just keep rerunning V.T. and stopping it
at the point where you want to mark the
screen with a chinagraph pencil, line up
the effects, and re-record the sequence
with the effect added for as many sec-
onds or as many frames as you want.
UNDERWORLD did give us some prob-
lems we had not anticipated. So many
times did we play and replay scenes, that
we started to annoy the V.T. boys -
because the tape was beginning to shed
oxide, and they were getting drop-outs
on the playback.

I remember there was a long pre-produc-
tion meeting about UNDERWORLD, mostly
because we all needed to work out how
we were going to do all these shots.
Literally, it went on all day and all

through the night as we hacked our way
through the script, figuring out how to
do the cave sets, the laser beams, what to
keep in, what had to be cut out - the
works.

An interesting challenge was the rocks.
We wanted to do shots where someone
jumps up from behind a foreground rock
and then runs round to stand in front of
that same rock. To do that, you needed
a three-camera set-up: one camera look-
ing at the model of the tunnel, another on
the actor standing against blue, and a
third looking at rocks. The picture of
those rocks would play up to my moni-
tor, which would enable me to trace and
cut out a mask shaped like the rocks.
That would then go onto my light box so
that the rocks would stand out like a
silhouette.

That silhouete would enable the rocks on
the third camera to be dropped into, and
on top of, the composite picture of the
actors in the caves. The technical term
for that is a hold back matte or, in BBC-
speak, “keys in cascade”. The trick was
then to remove that second ‘key’ at pre-
cisely the right instant when the actor
runs out from behind the rocks and comes
around to stand in the foreground.
There were a lot of shots like that on
UNDERWORLD. And of course we hit the
problem of picture degradation, because
most of the things were being done in
post-production. To do scenes where
loads of people are runing through model
caves, with foreground models added on
top and lasers firing at different times,
you were copying and building a scene
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of up to fourteen generations. The in-
dustry specification for two-inch tape was
then a maximum of five generations, so
by that stage the final picture would
become horribly green and look very
grainy.

Today, such picture quality would be
unacceptable. But that is because we
now have digital technology which en-
ables you to copy images over and over
again without loss of quality. But in
1977, we hadn’t even got the first Quan-
tel 5000 machine.

I think we had the Quantel 3000 ma-
chine in 1977, a frame store synchro-
niser. This enabled you to store a frame
of video picture in a memory. The effect
was rather like a pause button on a VCR,
except you didn’t have the video heads
running against the same piece of tape
constantly. People’s response to the 3000
was what gave Quantel the idea od pro-
ducing an effects machine later on.
Quantel was originally a company called
Micro Consultants, who were looking
for new outlets to sell technology they
had developed for military uses. They
targeted medicine and television as two
concerns who might be interested, and
launched this subsidiary company Quan-
tel - named after “quantise” (which is
where you digitise a picture) and “tel”
(short for television).

Their first product was a digital time-
base corrector, which helped to stabilise
the picture from non-broadcast video
machines. That then gave them the idea
for a machine that, instead of processing
just one line in a picture at a time, could
process the whole picture by storing it
internally in digital form. That led to the
development of the Quantel 5000, a fully-
digital effects machine which for a while
was known as “The Quantel”. Later this
technology was refered to as a DVE
(digital video effects), but nowadays is
generically called a “picture mover”.
The BBC and The Moving Picture Com-
pany had the first two prototypes around
1979, two years too late to help us with
our freeze-frames on UNDERWORLD.
Video disc was a facility we would very
rarely get access to. Until the develop-
ment of one-inch tape gave them easier
and cheaper ways to do slow-motion
replays, the Sports department used the
video disc machine almost exclusively.
The only time I can remember using it
on Doctor Who was for HORROR OF
FANG ROCK, when we used it to do the
sequence of the creeper wrapping itself
around people. It was a very expensive
piece of equipment, and there were only
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two in the UK.. One was at London
Weekend Television (LWT) for ITV Sport,
and the other was hidden somewhere in
the basement of BBC Televison Centre.

In the end I think UNDERWORLD proved
very expensive, and a lot of hard work
administratively - organising all of those
separate sessions. As far as I know,
they’ve never done another Doctor Who
that way since.

Before leaving the Corporation, I did do

one other show using full post-produc-
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tion compositing (including Chro-
maKey). That was The Journal of Br-
idget Hitler, directed by Philip Saville.
After that one, the management banned
post-production effects for a time as being
too resource-hungry. Years later they
organised it properly with a purpose-built
video efects studio, where the two Daves
are still creating visual magic, but on
purpose-built kit. They still have night-
mares about gallery-only session, though.
We all do! (]
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Guide to the storyboards

The storyboards above were compiled by A. J. Mitchell for the cast and
crew of UNDERWORLD. There are 66 pages in all, the few above are a rep-
resentative sample. Each shows a drawing (by designer Dick Coles) show-
ing the finished composite shot. To the right of this are diagrams showing
the position of the cameras relative to (left) the blue ChromaKey set and
(right) the model caves. Also shown are Mitch's instructions and words of
encouragement, like "Track simultaneously - and the best of luck!"
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LAYWRIGHT Fay Weldon found
herself at odds with her children, previewing
Doctor Who's return on January 7th 1978.
“They are far less easily frightened than I am.
They tell me, to reassure me, just how the ef-
fects are achieved. I disapprove of Leela,
who is so handy with her murderous knife.
It’s sexism. They would never let a male
hero behave in such a way. I mutter about it
and the children simply look at me as if I
were mad. It is all part of their Saturday
afternoon entertainment.”

In the course of 1978, Fay Weldon and her
peers would find themselves increasingly
faced with science fiction material from Brit-
ain and Hollywood.

Star Wars had just opened in time for the new
year and, not entirely by coincidence, the
BBC unveiled its major new foray into sf on
January 2nd: Blake’s Seven, a series whose
production team made it look like Doctor
Who Revisited, including people like Terry
Nation, David Maloney, Chris Boucher, Ian
Scoones, Roger Murray-Leach, and many
others who had so boosted Doctor Who’s
standards in recent years.

For its first episode (THE WAY BACK), Radio
Times devoted a big colour feature to launch
the series. While beneficial to Blake’s Seven,
this may be the reason why Doctor Who re-
ceived such small coverage the following
week.

Fortunately, the British national press was
more sympathetic. Most of the Saturday
tabloids on the 7th January ran features and
publicity stills from UNDERWORLD although,
unusually for Doctor Who, coverage was
equally given to the serial’s male guest star
(Alan Lake) as well as the more obviously
photogenic choice of co-star Imogen
Bickford-Smith.

News of Louise Jameson's intention to leave
Doctor Who had broken by then, and this
gave Imogen Bickford-Smith’s agent an ideal
opportunity to get his client onto the cover of
Weekend magazine.
She was touted as
the “New Doctor
Who girl”, even
though the inside
article specified she
had only been
signed for one show. &
Perhaps with views
of a longer stay, the
“darling of 22 TV
commercials” had
told Jack Bentley for
his Sunday Mirror

article in November: naet Herrich (Atn L

“I will go along with Dr. Who for as long as
they’ll have me.” This turned out to be four
episodes.

Public enthusiasm for space opera stories,
coupled with waning interest in the lacklustre
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five years old. Well, for some
of the time, anyway.

Bhe is the pilot of a space ship that
has been travelling
among the stars for
years.

She will be rejuven-
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as the 23-year-old
beauty she really is.
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SATURDAY

Dr Who (Tom Baker, be-
low) and Leela face thrill-
ing new dangers from a
fresh set of extra-terres-
trial beings on a planet on
the edge of creation in the
four-part story beginning

today (Underworld, 6.25).
Fortunately they will have
the help of that canny
rooot K9.
Man from Atlantis series on ITV, brought
UNDERWORLD’s viewing figures back above
average. After hovering around 9 million for
the ﬁrst three eplsodes part four captured
11.7 million view-
ers: this put the se-
ries into 27th place
on the national
viewing chart, its
highest position for
« the season.
. Although Doctor
Who took a fort-
“'a" night’s rest over the
Christmas period,
THE ROBOTS OF
# DEATH was re-
- « peated as two 45
Wiy e minute episodes on
Saturday December 31 and Sunday January
1. These compilations were virtually
unedited, ran at 6:25pm and 4:45pm, and
brought in audiences of 10 million and 7 mil-
lion.
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OB BAKER and Dave Martin’s second
script for the fifteenth season of Doctor Who is
one of a long line of Doctor Who scripts with an
uncredited extra author. In this case it is not the
script editor or another trusted, experienced writer
but the generations of Greek storytellers who
created and refined the myth of Jason and the
Argonauts. While stories such as THE BRAIN OF
MORBIUS are reworkings of classic tales of litera-
ture under greater or lesser disguise, UNDERWORLD
is an instance of a story owing so much 1o its roots
that the authors feel obliged to acknowledge the
fact in its closing moments: “I called Jackson
‘Jason’? ... Jason was another captain on a long
quest.”

UNDERWORLD is a story with problems. The
first story not to be script-edited by Robert Holmes
since 1974, it is as if the guts have been tom from
the programme. Many stories before this have
been run-of-the-mill, few have been quite so dull.
In some ways it is hard to understand how things
went quite so wrong. Baker and Martin were two
of the series most experienced and regular writers
- reliable, experimentive and witty. Norman Ste-
wart, while new to the job of Director, had a
wealth of experience as Production Asistant (the
job now called Production Manager), his first Who
being THE DALEKS. But in other ways the story is
doomed to fail: obviously done on the cheap, it is
written, acted and directed with a sort of world-
weary plodding confusion that echoes the Minyans’
state, but makes the story often tedious.

Apart from the regulars there are three main
groups of characters. There is the crew of the
Minyan spaceship R.1.C.; the Trogs, enslaved sub-
terranean inhabitants of the planet that has formed
around the lost spaceship P.7.E.; the guards and
Seers who serve (yet another) super-computer, the
Oracle.

We meet the R.1.C. crew early in part one -
which is easily the best episode. They are yet
another slice of Time Lord mythology, a race
which the Time Lords encountered when they had
just begun to explore the universe. Having given
the Minyans the benefit of their superior knowl-
edge, the Minyans kicked the Time Lords out and
proceeded to war amongst themselves (another
occurrence of the Baker/Martin anti-colonial
theme). Ulumately, the Minyans all-but destroy
themselves.

This set of events apparently inspired the Time
Lords’ policy on non-intervention, but the only
inspiration remaining with the inyans is the power
of regeneration. As with the later Kastrons in
MAWDRYN UNDEAD, this regeneration is dependent
upon machinery, and is also seen in many ways as
acurse. Here Tala (the only female crew member)
almost goes beyond the point of recovery, as
Herrick says: “deliberately... just like all the oth-
ers” presumably out of weariness at the prospect
of her thousand and somethingth new body. It is
perhaps weariness which also prevents any of the
crew from having much of a personality. They are
all rather one-dimensional - Jackson is the noble
leader, Orfe the amiable one to counterbalance the
aggressive Herrick (the only one of the crew who
actually does anything - and that isn’t much).
Then there is Tala, whose entire potential is used
up once she’s done her regeneration stunt.

Episode one’s strength comes from its setting
up of some big science fiction concepts: the Time
Lord history, the instant work-a-day regeneration
(which apparently has a few after-effects after
you've done it a few thousand times), and the
nebula - whirling away to create planets at the
edge of the known universe. Probably the only
moment of real wonder in UNDERWORLD comes in
part two, when the planet that has formed around
the P.7.E. becomes visible through the nebula’s
gasses.

But episode two is also where the trouble re-
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ally starts. To be fair to Baker and Martin, it’s
likely that they wrote the story hoping for filming
in real caves - or at least real studio sets. But the
underworld of the title is created using ChromaKey
on a scale never before attempted in the series
(and probably anywhere on television). Previous
stories had used the technique to insert backgrounds
for establishing scenes or special effects, but it
was unprecedented 1o try to create an entire envi-
ronment with it. That said, Baker and Martin were
always enthusiastic about ChromaKey, seeing it
used extensively in THE CLAWS OF AXOS and THE
MUTANTS. But here, one of the problems seems to
be that the environment is too ordinary, too dull.
Brightly coloured caves of a more alien nature
might have looked better in the circumstances

(like the radiation cave in THE MUTANTS). The
writing and direction of the story are a bit leaden,
but the worst offense is the visual dullness.

The reason for this is, as with THE MUTANTS,
that with so many layes of ChromaKey, any bright
colours in the real sets or costumes could have
been switched out along with the blue backdrops.
As it is there are still evident problems when
characters move, and in one shot in part three parts
of the Doctor’s face vanish as he crosses the set
quickly, his face reflecting the blue of the back-
ground.

But to give credit where it is due, the fact that
every angle to be shot had to be set up with its own
appropriate nodel background must have been a
logistic nightmare - and from the logistics stand-

ANDREW MARTIN buries some myths about UNDERWORLD

point it works. What suffers is what goes on
beside the technical wizardry - the life of the
programme, the artistic content. With so many
demands from cameramen, lighting engineers and
poor Mitch Mitchell struggling with the electronic
effects, Norman Stewart seems to have had little
time to devote to his actors once they were in the
studio. Television is notoriously a technician’s
medium at the best of times, but with this degree
of complication facing them, the actors seem to be
swamped by it. Even Tom Baker is, for once, a
little lacklustre. His asides are becoming more
flippant as he gets more and more obviously bored.

Another factor hardening the performances of
the supporting characters, in the case of the guards
and the Seers, is the fact that they are encased in

huge, flared costumes - greyish white for the
ordinary guards, black for the officers Rask and
Tam, and a strange mottled red-brown for the
Seers. The baggy hoods wom by all three are
there merely to disguise the fact that the Seers
have bronze-coloured wastepaper baskets instead
of heads. Personally I like the odd touch of sci-
ence fiction cliche, as with these *30s/°40s pulp
sci-fi robots, but this merely serves to reduce the
difference between the characters of Ankh and
Lakh to their similar voices. As we are never told
why the two have robot heads, the only reason
seems to be to create a shocking image, which is
squandered in any case by having the episode end
slightly later with the Doctor and Leela’s literal
(as it tums out) cliff-hanger.

The Trogs are no wild things either, dressed in
sackcloth brown without much vitality. Idmon is
the cliched agitator roused to rebellion by the
death of his family. Idas, his son, is full of super-
stition and clues to a truth about the underworld
which we already know - to us it is no mystery that
above the sky there are stars. Neither Idas nor
Idmon have any sense that they are the descen-
dants of an ancient race, and Jackson doesn’t seem
to care too much about the fact either - he is about
to throw the extra weight of the surviving Trogs
off his ship at the end until the Doctor reminds
him that here are human examples of his race to
populate Minyos II. Even then, Jackson blames
this extra weight when it seems that they will be
pulled back by the P.7.E. planet’s gravity.

One might wish that more had been made of
the computer the Oracle. The R.1.C. has no such
voiced computer, and the only mention of its ori-
gin is that it rants: “There are no gods but me -
have I not created myself?” But as this is never in-
vestigated, it remains a matter of speculation as to
whether it is fact or cyber-megalomania. We have
seen the Oracle too many times before, from WOTAN
to Xoanon, to be interested. It is just another lame
in-reference to the Jason myth.

HE regulars are not in particularly spar-
kling form, either. With the director preoccupied,
there is no strong hand to restrain Tom baker’s in-
ventiveness, and he strolls nonchalantly through
chokng gas, maser beams and a ChromaKey land-
scape, bome along on the relentless current of
Dudley Simpson’s turgid score. The dictum that
humour replaces violence is least effective here:
although there is no violence other than being
crushed by polystyrene rocks or being zapped by
an electronic-effects ray gun, the jokes are just as
artificial and ineffective. The Doctor’s quip about
people eating processed rock in Blackpool is the
nearest we ever come to laughing. The following
exchange just leaves us gaping in bewilderment:

pocTOR: Have you ever heard of the Flying
Dutchman?

LEELA: No.

pocToR: Pity, I've often wondered who he
was.

Is this the man who was once the omniscient
time traveller we knew and loved? Can he even be
the witty man who helped free the transported
Earthlings on Pluto so recently?

Leela battles on bravely, with a Jamie-like
naive superiority complex, blufing herway to
imagined respect from people evenmore primitive
than she is. The pacifier device (forgotten, as was
the Minyan’s regenerative ability, after part one)
leaves her docile, then angry and paranoid when
the Doctor snaps her out of it.

K-9’s contribution is as irritating as usual,
consisting of smart-alec observations, a refusal to
let the Minyans leave the Doctor when they re-
cover their race banks, and the discovery that it is
much easier to traverse uneven cave floors if you
are ChromaKeyed onto them.

So much is wrong with UNDERWORLD that it
seems unkind not to try to see its better points.
Although the talents of Janathan Newth, Gerald
James and Richard Shaw are sadly wasted, at least
the erratic Alan Lake (Herrick) manages to shine
through a little. The model work, unusually filmed
on 35mm stock, is very efficiently done. It is very
much a case of “if only...”. If the caves had been
real (location or studio); if there had therefore
been less reliance on ChromaKey, which deadens
the visuals so much and denies the actors their en-
vironment; if the performances had been sharper;
if life had been tweaked into the mediocre script.
If this was the best that could have been done, then
“I'm a budgie’s cousin.”
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Production

The story of UNDERWORLD is about
how resourcefulness saved a pro-
gramme from near-disaster.
UNDERWORLD is remembered by pro-
duction team and audience alike as
“the one with all the ChromaKey in
it”. (The BBC in-house term for the
effect is Colour Separation Overlay,
or CSO.) But without that Chro-
maKey work, either there would have
been no UNDERWORLD story on air, or
its successor THE INVASION OF TIME
would have suffered severe under-
funding, the loss of some episodes, or
both.

At the same time, the pressure to use
such a quantity of ChromaKey
brought important benefits for Doc-
tor Who in the long run. Firstly, it
got the series gallery post-production
for the first time in its history (that is,
studio days without actors, using only
the V.T. and grams facilities, plus the
gallery team). Secondly, as a result
of achieving post-production, it sig-
nificantly improved Doctor Who's
standard of visual effects.
UNDERWORLD was Doctor Who's first
step in that direction, making the pro-
gramme something of a milestone.
But it was not intended to be at the
outset. Neither was it intended to
become a contender in the record
books for the number of ChromaKey
scenes that could be shot for one pro-
gramme in a single day. And yet it
succeeded in becoming both.

Spending

The situation arose when producer
Graham Williams found out there was
no more money in the kitty for Doc-
tor Who. For three years, the show
had consistently overspent. As far
back as THE ARK IN SPACE, the previous
producer Philip Hinchcliffe had ar-
gued for more money for sets and
props, and had got his own way. Then
in 1977, and not for the first time,
Graham Williams was called to ac-
count for his predecessors actions as
the BBC reviewed its perspective on
Doctor Who. Television costs in
general soared during the late seven-
ties as U.K. inflation an out of con-
trol. With ever more frequent strikes
occurring both at the BBC and at In-
dependent Television (ITV), it was
inevitable that programme spending
would be more closely controlled.
Going by his account (see page 3), it
was during the making of UNDER-
WORLD that this truth was spelled out
to Graham Williams. The show would
run to budget now, or it would not run
at all.
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Production Unit Manager John
Nathan-Tumer told IN-VISION:
“The reason UNDERWORLD was done
on ChromaKey was the Designer ex-
pended an awful lot of money on the
first studio. I didn’t find this out until
quite close - maybe a week or so -
before the first studio session.

“The Production Unit Manager gets
all the contracts, which the Producer
(or the Production Unit Manager) sign.
The Design department in those days
suplied me with their contracts not
very soon after what’s called the
design-agreed date, which is when
everyone is happy with what this pro-
duction will look like. When this
particular contract came it, it was just
colossal. We managed to cut a few
bits off the spaceship set, but they
virtually spent the design allocation
for the whole story on the first studio.
“It was the last but one story of the
run, so we couldn’t spread the costs
to the others as there was only THE
INVASION OF TIME left to make. We
were lucky that for INVASION OF TIME
they asked us to go on location be-
cause they had a problem finding
studios for us. For that they gave us
what I estimated to be the additional
charges. So that production was fi-
nancially self-contained, with an ac-
curate budget. Going into INVASION
OF TIME we had to be level and the
books had to balance.”

Scripting

The origins of UNDERWORLD (Under-
ground was its very early working
title) lay in the show’s tradition of
spoofing source material from films
or literature. Script editor Anthony
Read had leamed from his predeces-
sor Robert Holmes how sucessful this
could be in Doctor Who, and was
happy to use it when commissioning
his remaining two stories of the sea-
son.

Read selected Bob Baker and Dave
Martin as his primary script writers,
because of their reliable track record
in delivering workable scripts on time
and sometimes at short notice. En-
trusting that first commission to them
would free Read to give more atten-
tion to David Weir’s script, which he
anticipated would need more work
from the script editor because the
writer was new to Doctor Who. He
could not have known just how much
work Weir's storyline would ulti-
mately involve. The story of The
Killer Cats appears next issue.

Read suggested to Baker and Martin
that they might want to dip into the

classics for their inspiration. Baker
and Martin took up this suggestion,
as Bob Baker explained to Doctor
Who Review in 1979: “It was a
homage to great stories. Fantastic
Voyage was a good story and THE
INVISIBLEENEMY lifted sequences from
it. UNDERWORLD was based on the
voyage of Jason and the Argonauts.
There were some subtleties which you
may have noticed, like Persephone
was the P.7.E., and the characters had
jumbled names from some of the
Argonauts. It was a Golden Fleece
they were after too, in the form of the
race bank.

“Another thing we liked about that
story was how we had the fight scenes
done with a sort of dance quality to
them, with shields on their arms. We
wanted some sort of ordered routine
to the way they went about it. I

thought that came off very well too.
Some of the Jason and the Argonauts
references which were disguised (to a
greater or lesser extent) were: R.1.C.
(Argossey); Jackson (Jason); Herrick
(Heracles); Orfe (Orpheus); Tala
(Atalanta); Minyos (Minos).

One restriction the script editor and
the writers worked with was that they
could not plan any location work. THE
SUN MAKERS had effectively put paid
to that, with its allocation of two film-
ing blocks instead of the normal one.
That cost had been partly redressed
by limiting the second studio block
on THE SUN MAKERS to just one day,
but there was still a need to balance
budgets before the end of the season.
Confined therefore to studios, Baker
and Martin anticipated three main set
elements: caves, large vaulted sets for
the P.7.E., and smaller ones for the
R.1.C.

Their visual inspiration for the R.1.C.
was a combination of the Concorde
aeroplane (which had captured the
British imagination in the early sev-
enties) and Taylor’s spaceship from-

Planet of the Apes, and with a vague
allusion to the sailing vessel captained
by Jason in his voyage with the Argo-
nauts. True to form, Baker and Martin
wrote a lengthy description of the ship
in their script: “A battered but sophis-
ticated multi-hull space vehicle with
a solar sail and tiny points of light
pulsing from the ion drive pods. We
hear the TARDIS materialisation sound
as the ship comes towards us like a
giant ray and passes over us. On the
underside is the stylised legend
‘R.1.C." The ship is large and takes
quite a long time to pass over us.
Several patches show. Only when it
has done so do we see that it too is
heading slowly but surely for the now
very distant spiral nebula.

“The interior is spacious with wall-
to-wall H.U.D.s, navigation screens
and function displays. The pilot sits

The Seers - Ankh and Lakh

at the front, the pointed end, and is
driving the ship on manual and opti-
cal systems at the moment. The sys-
tem is that a shutter, like ‘The Con-
corde’, can be lowered as necessary.
“The pilot is of heroic stature, as are
the other three. Unlike them Tala is,
at the moment, grey-haired and an-
cient. Her uniform, like the others, is
a padded spacesuit which owes some-
thing to American Football gear, and
equally something to the sculpted
body armour of Ancient Greece.
“The ship has been in space for
roughly 100,000 years. During this
time the crew has cloned itself 1,000
times. Each man or woman lives from
25 to 85 and then goes into the cloner
to come out as a 25-year-old. But
because of all the replication the crew
are all sufering from what might be
called Genetic Fatigue. It has made
them laconic, massive and slow-
moving until there is the stimulus of a
real emergency. Nevertheless they
are taned, fit and good-looking like
Greek heroes, American astronauts or
Australian male models.”



Costumes and

props

All the BBC departments working on
this story saw an oportunity to shine.
Picking up on the above descriptive
text, costume designer Rupert Jarvis
set out to create spacesuits that would
be noticeably diferent to the 2001 or
Apollo mission versions. Later drafts
of the scripts have the references to
American Football gear and Greek
body amour deleted. Presumably,
Jarvis had by then decided on a more
Eastern approach to the costumes -
the padding concept was retained, but
scaled down so that the actors would
not suffer too much from the heat on
a long studio day. Instead, to fill out
the spacesuits, an elaborate web of
fabric piping was sewn in, and the
costume surmounted by a weaved
hessian space helmet.

The shield guns were the invention of
special effects deigner Richard Con-
way. They combined the idea of the
Minyans carrying both a laser blaster
and some kind of dish aerial that cap-
tured and deflected ray bolts. After
consultation with electronic effects
designer A. J. Mitchell, it was agreed
that these guns would have a working
light on them as an aid both to the
actors and the gallery team who used
it as their cue to line up the optical
efects (see below).

A casualty of the spending restric-
tions was the appearance of the Seers.
The script describes them in the fol-
lowing descriptive text: “A shadow
falls across Herrick. It is Ankh. He
wears a purple cloak with Klu Klux
Klan eye slits in the hood. Behind the
slits is the glitter of red, glowing eyes.
When we finally seee Ankh with his
hood off he has a metal head, bronzed
like a ‘Burton’ tailor’s dummy, bald
like Yul Brynner and with glittering
red eyes. Being Seers, they have a
third eye in their foreheads. The
reason why they have metal heads is
bionic. They are linked to the com-
puter Oracle and therefore have a kind
of telepathy with it.”

The trimmed budget would not run to
specially-sculpted and moulded head
pieces, and so cheaper, cylindrical
headwear was used. This retained the
idea of three eyes and a bronzed
appearance.

Script editor Anthony Read said of
the Seers in 1978: "The computer
created them. They were servants of
it, created as extensions of itself, and
were the equivalent of high priests in
Greek legends."

Tala

Make-up spotted their chance to shine
with the need to age actress Imogen
Bickford-Smith by some sixty years.
At that point (late 1977), prosthetic

appliances were still some years ahead
for the Make-up department. So the
ageing process was done using the
traditional methods of cotton wool
strands, latex paint and face powder.
The scenes with the aged Tala were
recorded first, because the time taken
to remove the make-up and restore
the actress to her real age was far
shorter than the hours requires pains-
takingly to apply it.

Much of the press publicity was given
over to Herrick, played by “tough-
guy actor” Alan Lake.

(Lake was husband to actress Diana
Dors, and by coincidence they had an
eight-year-old son called Jason.) But
a lot of attention also fell on Imogen
Bickford-Smith (Tala).

Partly, this was because the press call
was on the day she was required to
wear the ageing make-up. But equally,
it was a move by her agent to capital-
ise on the news (which broke in
December) that Louise Jameson was
leaving the series at the end of the
year, and so Doctor Who would be
looking for a new female companion.

Regeneration

The story features regeneration, an-
other reminder of how the series was
increasingly dealing with its own
history. Bob Baker told IN-vISION: “I
felt that the Time Lord mythology in
UNDERWORLD was in keeping with the
early-seventies brief of non-interfer-
ence in other worlds.”

For the cloning/regeneration process,
he and Dave Martin provided descrip-
tive text which suggest ways in which
scripts were altered before recording
in the post-Hinchcliffe era of the pro-
gramme: “Tala is lying in something
like an iron lung. Tubes and power
cables lead into the machine. Herrick
monitors the process. It is a painful
business being regenerated, but we
cannot hear much of the screaming...”
(See also ‘Script changes’ below.)

Sets

The Regeneration Chamber itself was
not actually a set, but a glass painting,
over which was laid a live-action
picture of Herrick (presumably con-
trolling the process), with the com-
posite shot relayed to a black-and-
white monitor on the bridge.

The sets which casued all the prob-
lems for UNDERWORLD were the R.1.C.
spaceship interiors. Designed by one
of the BBC's top creative minds, Dick
Coles, they were very large because
they were split-level, very lavish
because they had lots of working props
and specialy-moulded the computer
chamber in detail, references are made
to the race bank cylinders being in-
side the head of the Oracle, implying
that the focal point of attention in the
set would be some kind of giant head.

Specifically, in episode three men-
tion is made of a panel opening in the
head of the Oracle, revealing two bars
of light which gradually coalesce to
form the fake race bank cylinders.
Whether all these ideas were pulled
at the planning stage or the point
where the budget crisis arose is not
clear. Certainly, however, a major
casualty of the spending cut was the
underground set, which required so
much ChromKey work, as A.J. Mitch-
ell explains elsewhere this issue . (See
below for studio details.)

Script changes

Studio recording began in studio TC4
on Monday October 3rd, 1977 for two
days. Inthis time, all the R.1.C. scenes
and the TARDIS interiors were shot. A
last minute addition, possibly one of
Tom baker’s many volunteered con-
tributions, was the Doctor’s late en-
trance dressed in a painter’s smock
and cap. Even the camera script has
the Doctor already in the control room,
dressed normally, when the scene
begins.

Another alteration is the Doctor’s
comments about regeneration in epi-
sode one. Originally “I've been
through it once or twice... no, I tell a
lie, three times; most unpleasant”, this
became just “I’ve been through it two
or three times. Not pleasant.”

Miniatures

A section of the budget that was not
cut was the filmed miniature work,
although this may have been because
most of it had been shot in advance.
Like Ian Scoones, visual effects de-
signer Richard Conway was a fan of
Bray Studios’ facilities, and arranged
for all the R.1.C. footage to be shot
there. The spaceship model was some
three feet in length and for the most
part was flown on wires. However,
the camera was moved on a dolly
instead of moving the model, to elimi-
nate wobble.

It is not known whether any of the
UNDERWORLD effects crew had seen
Star Wars before shooting the R.1.C.
footage. Press viewing and invita-
tion-only screenings had started as
early as July 1977. many of the se-
quences, and even some of the script
references, do seem to pay homage to
the “big ship passing over the cam-
era” shot which was so memorable
from Star Wars.

Several of the model scenes involv-
ing the R.1.C. had to be done using
the water tank at Bray, most notably
the ship diving into the top surface of
the P.7.E. planetoid, and the rock frag-
ments floating down to cluster around
the ship. Most spectacular was the
shot of the R.1.C. breaking out of its
rock cocoon, simply (but effectively)
achieved by dropping the model

through a fragment-coated shell
shaped like half a rugby-football.

Although some pyrotechnic detona-
tions were done to show the ship’s
fiery trip through the spiral nebula, a
lot of the coloured lighting and flar-
ing effects were added or enhanced
during the post-production phase. One
significant combination of mechani-
cal and optical effects was the nebula
itself. The model was a simple spiral-
painted circle of plastic, spinning on

The R.1.C. in space

a tumntable. Above it was a shallow
cone of ‘mirrorlon’, slightly distorted
to give a moving pattemn to the re-
flected edges of the spiral when seen
by a slightly defocussed camera. re-
corded in the studio, the playback was
then enhanced by adding electroni-
cally-generated colours and glows.

Post-production

Combining filmed model and mini-
ature work with electronically-com-
posed opticals is very difficult in a
“live” studio, because of the need to
concentrate on recording work on the
studio floor. Post-production meant
that the production team did not have
to worry about keeping a studio full
of actors and technicians busy. The
director was free to concentrate on
getting the “look™ of the show right
using the material he had already re-
corded.

Today, this is nothing unusual in tele-
vision. As electronic effects designer
A.J. Mitchell told IN-visiON: “Even
Star Trek - The Next Generation no
longer composes its effects on film.
Once the film is shot, the first thing
you do is dump it down to tape. It is
much quicker, and much, much
cheaper for TV companies now to
have their effects added electronically.
All the beams and phaser blasts are
added from effects machines work-
ing directly with tape sources.”

So a first for UNDERWORLD, and one
made possible by post-production,
was the inclusion of “ray gun” bolts
which emerged from guns and “trav-
elled” to their target, instead of just
appearing as a straight line betwen
gun and target (like K-9’s red blaster
effect). Previously, only THE MOON-
BASE had used a travelling laser bolt,
and that had been a piece of anima-
tion footage from the BBC's Graph-
ics department.

A lengthy description of the UNDER-
WORLD shield gun bolt appears in Star-
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burst issue 30 (published in 1981).
The effect required two passes of the
pre-recorded tape during post-produc-
tion. On the first pass, a generated
diamond shape was put over the vic-
tim, supposedly showing the point of
impact. On the second pass, the pre-
drawn, shaped and coloured ray was
added by the old technique of pulling
strips of card away to reveal the ray to
the camera. The major advantage that
post-production should have given this
process was that freeze-framing pre-
recorded images made it possible to
line up effects with great accuracy.
However, the video machines were
unable tomanage this, and A.J. Mitch-
ell had to add the effects in real time.
This meant playing the sequence
through several times over (reducing
the quality of the image in the proc-
ess), marking the positions for the
start and end of the bolt effect on the
monitor screen with a chinagraph
pencil.

Mitchell also used an additional U-
Matic tape machine, which produced
lower-grade images than V.T. ex-
pected. Nevertheless, the effects were
accepted as broadcast quality.

ChromakKey in the
studio

Anthony Read said of using Chro-
maKey "It was really exciting to do it
that way, it was not how we intended
to do it. In the first place it was
originally intended to do it on film
and in the studio. It tumed out when
we came to it that the cost involved to
build the sets in the studio would be
so enormous that it was not on. The
designer and director came up with
the idea to do it on CSO. They were
able to convince Graham and me that
this was a viable way which was
exciting.  Throughout the pro-
gramme's historyit has been a very
innovatory show technically. The

technicians have always enjoyed the
chance to stretch and extend their
armory. and improve their techniques.
It came off very well in UNDERWORLD."
The main ChromaKey days were
Saturday and Sunday of block two,
which ran four days from 15th to 18th
October. For much of that weekend,
more than half of studio TC3’s space
was taken up with giant blue Chro-
maKey backcloths and flooring. The
remaining space was allotted to the
model cave sets, each of which had to
be carefully lit, just like their full-size
counterparts. Lengthy line-up ses-
sions, involving placing blue ‘X’s
onto blue flooring, were required to
mark out the precise routes tha actors
would have to follow in front of the
cameras.

Assistant Floor Manager Gary
Downie recalls it all as “a nightmare
just trying to keep everyone happy.
Everything had to be so precise. If
just one person ran a few inches the
wrong way, you'd be into a rerun.”
Some scenes had to involve props as
well, most notably the climax to epi-
sode two as the Doctor tries to stem
the flow of fumigating gas. Orgi-
nally, his task of opening up the air
duct and rewiring the vane motor
mechanism was more visually in-
volved. But Tom Baker could not be
seen working in anything but a very
restricted camera angle relative to the
ChromaKeyed set, and so much of
the drama was lost.

The most complicated sections to
record were the rope bridge fight
scenes over the chasm leading to the
P.7.E. With live action elements,
model sets, actors and ray gun effects
all involved, it took the longest time
to rehearse and record, and almost
ran the production into overtime.
The last scenes to be recorded in block
two were those set in the Oracle cham-
ber, and in other rooms aboard the
P.7.E. Those ran through to October
18th, after which the lengthy post-
production work and V.T. editing was

Leela, Jackson and Idas in the (model) tunnels

The TARDIS is drawn into the spiral nebula

carried out on October 19th and 20th
(episodes 1 and 2), and on October 24
to 28th (episodes 3 and 4).

Music

A simple scene to record in the studio
was the anti-grav lift, an ideal scene
for ChromaKey. A curiosity about
the scene is the little passage of
‘bouncy’ music that runs through it,
seemingly out of step with the rest of
UNDERWORLD’S  quite sombre
soundtrack. When Dudley Simpson
was putting together the music for the
episode, he was visited by members
of the Doctor Who Appreciation
Society (DWAS) for an interview. They
brought tape recordings of past music
he had written for the show, includ-
ing a piece from THE MIND OFEVILL (the
sequence where the Doctor tells Jo
Grant how Henry VIII imprisoned him
in the Tower of London.) It may be
co-incidence, but the two themes are
very similar. All the incidental music
for UNDERWORLD was played by an
orchestra of six musicians, conducted
by Simpson.

Transmission

Despite the fact that several sequences
were used more than once (the guards
going to investigate the skyfall near
the start of part two, for example), the
first three episodes of UNDERWORLD
ran quite short. This is probably a
reflection on their complex produc-
tion requirements. Each ran less than
23 minutes, with episode two under
21 and a half minutes. Episode four,
however, made up for this by over-
running to nearly 25 and a half min-
utes.

Trivia

Reminiscent of her first trip, Leela is
operating the TARDIS as the story
opens while the Doctor paints. The
Baker and Martin catchphrase this se-
rial is “The Quest is the Quest”. Men-
tion is made of the Lieber Mann
Maser, which fires charged particles
along a laser.

Bob Baker told IN-VISION his memo-

ries of the serial: “I thought the deci-
sion to do ChromaKey work was bril-
liant, though a bit shakey because it
was new. It didn’t quite come off -
very nearly, but not quite. It was held
together by some fine acting. It was
very brave of the director to do it, and
absolutely right as well. I didn’tknow
that was what they were going to do
before writing the story. I thought
they’d use the usual set corridors. I
prefer location, of course - you never
know your luck - but I like someone
to be bold and day ‘dammit all, we’ll
do it all in ChromaKey’.”
For some reason the BBC holds no
records of the names of the extras and
walk-ons for this story (although
some, like John Cannon) can be rec-
ognised from watching the pro-
gramme. -
The BBC records are also at odds
with each other in some aspects. For
example, some say that the studio re-
cordings were in TC3, others say TC4.
The VT editing of 27-28th October is
also only referenced in some BBC
sources.
Tala deliberately exceeds the regen-
eration point, a way in which Minyans
commit suicide on their long voyage.
Her response to the regeneration is
memorably summed up in Terrance
Dicks’ novel: “Once again, she had
been sentenced to life”. The book,
first published in 1980, uses a refer-
ence photo for the cover art (by Bill
Donohoe) from HORROR OF FANG ROCK
(see cover of IN-VISION issue 24). The
book’s title was Doctor Who and the
Underworld.
At PanoptiCon 6 (in July 1985) Bob
Baker and Dave Martin said that when
they wrote UNDERWORLD, they
hoped for a spin-off science fiction
series about the P.7.E. based on other
Greek myths.
Unlike previous apppearances, the
TARDIS travels through space with-
a

out spinning.




Drama at the BBC

In the first part of his interview with
IN-VISION, Graham Wiliams recalled
the events which brought him to Doc-
tor Who. He arrived to find the pro-
gram in a state of crisis, with his
script editor and lead actress both
wanting to quit; pressure was being
exerted by his BBC bosses to revise
the programme’s dramatic content;
and his first planned story was can-
celled. By the time January 1978
rolled around, Graham Wiliams was
justified in feeling he had found solu-
tions to these problems, and that the
worst was over. He was mistaken.

K-9 was an attempt to pull back the
younger audience. I was either being
told, or I was aware anyhow, that we
were leaving the younger elements of
our audience too far behind, and that
something should be done to remedy that.
After all, K-9 was virtually handed to us
on a plate. We never met with Bob
Baker or Dave Martin to discuss it be-
forehand. It was just a concept that semed
to leap off the page when we read it, and
after that it was catch as catch can all the
way. I don’t think anyone would dis-
agree that it took Visual Effects over two
years to get the beast working properly.
Bob Holmes was absolutely right when
he described the panic of those months,
simply because you could not sit down
and plan anything. Everyone working
on future series was also working on the
present series, and I did not feel I could
just break in on designers’ drawing
meetings or Visual Effects’ planning
sessions, grab the guys I wanted from
Philip, and say: “Sod your production
mate, I’'m worried about what’s happen-
ing on my shows”.

On the other hand, when Philip Hinch-
cliffe was planning future Doctor Whos,
he would take his present designer (as I
did later on) and say: “OK, that deals
with the present one. Now let’s have a
quick chat about what we’re going to do
on this future show”. He had access,
therefore, to plan whole seasons ahead
in that way.

My problem was not being able to get

my hands on anybody until after Christ-
mas, where at that point we were due to
start production at the end of January.
The plan I had was to match scripts with
certain characteristics to directors who
could complement those strengths and
weaknesses. But even that fell foul of
the nightmare when The Witch Lords fell
through. Although I do think I managed
to even things out towards the end of the
season.

George Spenton-Foster was a tried and
tested traditional director. I had known
him from our days on Sutherland’s Law
and Z Cars, so he was perfect for our
outdoors, rural England IMAGE OF THE
FENDAHL story. So too was Pennant
Roberts for THE SUN MAKERS, because
he had a good technical background.
Norman Stewart and I got together dur-
ing THE INVISIBLE ENEMY while that
panic was going on upstairs in the gal-
lery. The disasters we had on that show
were not Derrick Goodwin’s fault.
Nothing in his experience had prepared
him for that madhouse, but Norman
helped him so much from the floor -
lining up shots, for him to take in the
gallery that worked. So he certainly got
my vote for trying a director’s job of his
own. He was also very good at getting
good performances from Tom baker, and
not leting him get away with much. That
was a problem I certainly came up against
time and time again with Tom.

Paddy Russell and Louise Jameson both
suffered terribly at the hands of Tom
Baker, and it took me a long time to
understand why. I still didn’t believe it
for a long while, but I think the truth is
that Tom Baker is a frantic sexist. I
knmow it’s true that he used to be ex-
tremely fond of the opposite sex, but by
a curious manipulation of that same prin-
ciple he and Paddy got along very badly
because she was a woman. He really did
not like having to take orders and in-
structions from a woman director. And
Paddy was equally unwilling to make
any allowances for this attitude. Indeed,
why should she?

On the other hand, the prima donna aspect
of leading artists, and sometimes of
famous writers, is something you have
to live with in a production office. I had
worked with Alan Stratford Johns on
Barlow, where I took over as script edi-

tor on the last season. He was very un-
compromising. So too was the king
writers, Elwyn Jones, whom many people
on the team regarded with breathless awe.
My attitude was not to go out there like
Gideon with a sword and buckler, but
simply to say: “All right pal, if you're
going to give me a hard time, please do
it now so I don’t have to lie awake at
nights worrying about itbefore we go
into production”.

Elwyn Jones and I decided we would not
have much to do with each other, be-
cause we would simply end up taking
chunks out of each other, which really
was not worth it. That was all agreed
quite amicably. Alan (Stratford) Johns
and I ended up getting on very well, and
we stayed friends for a long time after-
wards.

Not to take something so much to your
heart when you are so central to its crea-
tion is asking an awful lot of any egocen-
tric, and all writers and all actors are, to
varying degrees, egocentrics by defini-
tion.

The difficulty I found on Doctor Who
was that, by the end of our second year
together, Tom Baker and I knew ea/h
other almost a bit too well. We didn’t
know each other socially or intellectu-
ally, because we had little in comon. But
we knew each other’s strengths and
weakness and that did get to a point
when I had to say to him: “Look, we do
know each other well. Now either you

get on with your job and leave me to get

@
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on with mine, or I will have to find
another leading man. And unfortunately
you are not in the position of being able
to find another producer”.
But that didn’t work. I was called in and
 told that, unless I mended my ways and
gave Tom story approval, casting ap-
proval and director approval next sea-
~son, I would not be employed to produce
~ that third season. Graeme MacDonald
 (Head of Series and Serials) even called
me in from sick leave to tell me that.

And that was all because Tom Baker had

- pushed a postcard through my door a

~ few days earlier to say that he wouldn’t

be doing Doctor Who any more.

I took that card to Graeme MacDonald

with the argument that we were going to

have to recast, because there was no way
that I was prepared to give that amount
of power to a leading actor.

Graeme said in words to me that he had

had a meeting with Bill Cotton (Control-

- lerof BBC1), and there was no question

raised about my having failed in my job.

It was simply a direct choice between

Tom Baker and me.

Bill Cotton and Graeme MacDonald had

greed at that lunch, if the choice had to

- be made then they would choose Tom

~ baker. The name of Graham Williams in

 Radio Times is not going to deliver 13
million viewers on a Saturday night the

- way Tom Baker’s name did.

- My response was to say: “Fine, that’s
your decision. But still don’t expect me
to give the leading actor in a show script
approval, casting approval and director
approval”,

Shaun Sutton (Head of Drama) was out
of the country while all this went on, so

I added that as it was Shaun who had
appointed me as a producer, it was to
Shaun that I should actually refer my
reasons for not being able to continue.

~ Graeme thought that was perfectly fair.
~ We had a meeting with Shaun the day
after he got back to the country - the
same afternoon on which Graeme

~ MacDonald came to me and asked me to

fire Tom Baker.
I told him that I didn’t want to. I felt he
should. And that didn’t go down too
well either. In the end, there was a
meeting of the three of us in Graeme’s
office, with Tom airing his grievances
and me airing mine. It went on for sev-
eral hours, at the end of which the ques-
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Herrick and the aged Tala

tion was posed: could we two still work
together. We both said yes, so Graeme
said: “Fine. Get on with it”.

The crux of that whole matter had been
Tom and I knowing each other too well,
and Graeme not knowing Tom at all.
Graeme had been approached by the
extremely powerful personality of Mr
Baker (which I had had time to get used
to over two years), and Graeme comes
from a background of one-off plays where
very potent and powerful actors and
actresses are run-of-the-mill. He had
taken Tom too much at his word.

Tom, by and large, had been talking out
of the back of his neck. By the time
you've had your ninety-fifth drunken
conversation with Tom, where he ex-
plains to you that the ideal companion
for him in a Doctor Who story is a cab-
bage that could sit on his shoulder so he
could turn to it from time to time to
explain the plot, you’re used to his ec-
centricities. Graeme MacDonald, how-
ever, was hearing all this for the first
time and, I think, was firmly convinced
by the end of this business that Tom had
been pulling his leg all along. Maybe he
had.

Tony Read was, for me, a very obvious
choice at the time to replace Bob Holmes,
when Bob decided he had finally had
enough as script editor. Tony had a very
wide experience of script editing, both

outside the BBC and inside. After Doctor
Who, he went on to do the Hammer
House of Horror for an independent
studio, where he got the chance to do all
the gore and horror we weren’t allowed
to do on Who.

Originally, Tony had approached us to
submit a storyline to Doctor Who. He
and I knew each other from The Trou-
bleshooters, and he and Bob for a lot
Ionger than that. Bob thought very highly
of him, so my response was very much
to say: “Fine, we like the story. ‘And
while you’re at it, would you like to
become the show’s script editor for a
year?”,

It was inevitable that the style of Doctor
Who would change once Tony took on
the burning torch. But of course, one
can never predict precisely how in ad-
vance. In all honesty, and with no detri-
ment implied either to Tony Read or
Douglas Adams, I have to say that I
would have been a very much happier
chap had I had Bob Holmes as my script
editor throughout all my seasons, as
Philip had done.. I certainly felt I was
one more of a wavelength from the word
go with Bob than I was with either of the
others. It tok working towards with the
other two, but Bob truly had found the
natural slot for Doctor Who in the tele-
vision universe.

UNDERWORLD was never intended to be
a radical departure from the kind of sto-
ries that had gone before. After all,
Doctor Who had mimicked Franken-
stein in THE BRAIN OF MORBIUS and Fu
Manchu in THE TALONS OF WENG-
CHIANG, so why not an older textual base
such as Greek mythology for our sources?
Given the problems we had with David
Weir’s Killer Cats... story, in retrospect
it might have been far safer to point
writers deliberately at the classics when
they were commissioned. At least we
would have known the outline structure
of what they were doing for us.

The Killer Cats... took forever and a day
to write. And when it eventually thud-
ded onto the desk a week before the
director was due to join, it was utterly
unusable. There were crowd scenes in
Wembley Stadium stipulated which, the
last time I heard, would have required
some 96,000 human-shaped cat cos-
tumes. In a way, that is text book proof
that some writers are more suited to Doc-



tor Who than others, irrespective of their
background and work on other shows.
David Weir is a fine writer, and had
obviously been brought on by Tony Read
on the basis of work they had done to-
gether in the past. But I still remember
Tony in my office, with his head in his
hands, saying: “I don’t understand it.
How can he have done this to me?”.
And that didn’t help matters much ei-
ther.

As I recall, I went down and had two
very stiff drinks in the BBC Club with
Tony. Then we sat at a table and I
started teling him the story of THE INVA-
SION OF TIME. I asked him if he thought
he could write the script in six days. He
said no, he thought he could do it in two
weeks, which he did. It wasn’ta detailed
storyline to begin with - I imagine if we
had been writing it down it would have
covered about six or seven sheets of A4
paper, but it was enough to go on.

I have been asked many times where the
inspiration for THE INVASION OF TIME
came from but I honestly have no idea.
Where does inspiration come from?
Probably from the bottom of the gin and
tonic I was drinking at the time, if the
truth be known.

Tony took it away and came back a fort-
night later. It still didn’t work, but to be
fair he was trying something he had nver
even tried to do before: writing a six-part
story in two weeks. I had done it before
with fifty-minute drama under similar
circumstances, but never with anything
of that length that had to come to a cliff-
hanger every twenty-five minutes. So I
said: “OK, you’ve had your crack, it’s
about time I put my money where my
mouth is”.

I took the scripts home on a Monday
night, and brought them in to be typed
on Friday morning - not having gone tc
bed for four days.

I would not say THE INVASION OF TIME
was written to any predetermined Doc-
tor Who formula, except that I did bear
in mind something that Bob Holmes had
said over and over again, because it had
caught him unawares from time to time.
With any six-parter, you have an abso-
lute bitch of a job at the end of episode
four. All Doctor Who stories tend to
end comfortably at the end of episode
four, and yet with six-parters you still
have two more episodes to go. Bob’s
device was always to use a sort of ‘dog-

leg’, where the story goes off into a kind
of sub-plot or a tangent and then comes
back again in time for the big finale in
part six.

I tried that same ploy with, I think, a
degree of success, holding back the
appearance of the Sontarans until the end
of part four. Of course, the whole thing
would probably have looked a lot better
had the production of the story gone
smoothly thereafter. But that was not to
be, either.

On each of the three years I did on Doctor
Who, at exactly the same point in time
(which was about mid-November), we
would have the Crackerjack Clock inci-
dent.

The Crackerjack Clock is a generic title
for a dispute, in those days of some
fourteen years standing, about demarca-
tion as to whether it was the Props de-
partment or the Electrics department who
turned on the clock to start the children’s
programme Crackerjack.

This year it occurred halfway through
the pre-prep for THE INVASION OF TIME.
The Planning people phoned up and said:
“We can’t let you have the studio dates
you want because we’ve got too big a
backlog of Christmas shows queueing
up. Neither can we offer you an extra
option on filming”,

What they could offer us, however, was
one studio, one block on Outside Broad-
cast, then our filming. But as things

turned out, we were only able to get
filming for about two days, as the film
crew were needed elsewhere. The rest
had to be rejigged onto OB.

That effectively meant we had to rethink
all our visual effects plans for the Var-
dans into something that could be done
quickly on OB. And in those days, be-
fore you had access to things like Quan-
tel and Paintbox, the number of effects
you could do on OB was strictly limited.
We hadn’t even then cottoned on to the
trick of doing post-production work in
the gallery, which was a small bit of
wool-pulling over the eyes of BBC
management we achieved in my third
series.

Aside from the appearance of the giant
phallic symbol in THE CREATURE FROM
THE PIT, those weeks were my worst
moments on Doctor Who. In fairness,
BBC Planning did ofer me another alter-
native - just don’t make THE INVASION
OF TIME and reuse the money elsewhere
on the show. But I didn’t want to do
that. I really wanted to do the story,
despite its problems, which is why I
pressed to get Gerry Blake as director.
Gerry has a wonderful sense of humour.
He is one of the few people I know who
can hold a cast and crew together, and
keep them smiling under the most ap-
palling conditions. And believe me, they
didn’t get much more apalling than on
THE INVASION OF TIME. Bl

Herrick and Jackson hold Leela and the Doctor at gun-point

UNDERWORLD - 15




9

» don .m ey
LA RS fox

RIS

'io;tvti‘

,i

T ———

o“

L oue»--
‘s isnbes % Ly $s

FEeR e’
TEeEeS

T2 200 % .00

R




